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Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Strategic Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

The directors present their strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022,

Fair review of the business

In April 2022 the group acquired CAJ Mercian Holdings Limited, and its trading subsidiary Mercian Logistics Limited,
which provides courier and pallet services from its basis in Herefordshire. Details of the acquisition are included in
note 16. The acquisition of Mercian allows the group to offer improved trensport services to its customers and, during
the year, we have started to integrate the operations of Mercian together with our existing businesses to provide
transport as well as logistics services to our customers, However, during the year Mercian contributed a loss to the
group which has reduced profitability overall. The warehousing business has refocused in the year, changing its mix of
clients from high activity clients with lower profitability to lower activity higher margin work, which has improved the
profitability of the existing members of the group.

The directors are not aware of any likely changes in the group's activities next year.

The group made a profit before tax for the year of £467,629 (2021 - £1,609,946). The statement of financial position
shows total assets of £48,084,739 (As at 31 December 2021 - £50,686,022), total liabilities of £48,567,007 (As at 31
December 2021 - £50,179,506) and net liabilities of £482,268 (As at 31 December 2021 - net assets of £506,516).

Whilst individual companies within the group have paositive net assets, the group as a whole has consolidated net
liabilities. This results from the amortisation of the contract assets acquired on acquisition which offsets on
consolidation the profits made in the individual group companies and the dividend and share repurchase in the year
{which have been adequately funded by individual company reserves). The group as a whole has reported a profit for
the year and as the effects of the unwinding of intangible assets expire we expect to return to positive consolidated
net assets in the future,

The group’s key financial indicators and other performance indicators during the year were as follows:

Unit 2022 2021
EBITDA [1] from continuing operations E 7,869,449 8,970,019
Cash generated from continuing operations £ 7,615,143 6,439,568

All key performance indicators have been calculated on the group's continuing businesses.

[1] - Adjusted EBITDA = Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation adjusted to remove exceptional
items.

EBITDA declined in 2022 due primarily to the losses in the acquired business. Cash generated from operations
improved as the group maintained greater stability in the level of its working capital in 2022 comparad to 2021.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The performance of the group is to some extent determined by the sales perfermance of its clients. The range of
markets covered by its dients and the quality of those clients helps to mitigate this risk, providing diversification and
trading stability. The company is aiso dependent upon the performance of key service providers principally staffing
agencies and transport providers. The company continually reviews the performance of its service providers to look for
ways to mitigate risk,

During 2022 the ongoing risk from Covid-19 has reduced as we have become used to new ways of working. As the
governments across Eurape have moved from lock down to living with covid we have been able to adapt our working
practices whilst maintaining safe working systems to maintain our commitment to providing a safe environment.

The group's averall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of the marketplace and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the group's financial performance. Risk management is carried out by the
operating divisions under policies approved by the board of directors,
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Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Strategic Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2022
Directors' statement of compliance with duty to promote the success of the company

The Directors of the Company, as those of all UK companies, must act in accordance with a set of general duties.
These duties are detailed in section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 which is summarised as follows:

A director of a company must act in the way he considers, in geod faith, would be most likely to promote the success
of the company for the benefit of its members as a whole, and in doing so have regard (amongst other matters} to:

a. the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

b, the interests of the company's employees;

c. the need to foster the company's business relationships with suppliers, customers, and others;

d. the impact of the company's operations on the community and the environment;

e. the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and
f. the need to act fairly as between members of the company.

We provide key business services to our clients which underpin their business supply chains. It is important that we
effectively identify, evaluate and manage risks we face, and we continue to evolve our approach to risk management.
For details of principal risks and uncertainties see the relevant sections of the strategic and directors’ reports, The
following paragraphs summarise how the Directors fulfil their duties:

Our people

The Company is committed to being a responsible business and to consult and discuss with employees matters which
are likely to affect their interest and we aim to increase awareness of the wider group with employees of the Company
through regular briefings and newsletters.

Shareholders

Immediate shareholders comprise the parent undertakings within the Chaing Equities Limited group, the ultimate
shareholders of Chaing Equities Limited and minerity shareholders in intermediate holding companies. All of the
individuals are either directors of the company or senior employees within the wider group structure. Communication
and regular engagement with Shareholders is given a high priority by the Directors.

Business relationships

Qur strategy prioritises cross selling and upselling of services to existing clients. To do this we need to maintain strong
dient relationships. We value all of our suppliers and enter into appropriate contracts where necessary. Further details
are in the directors’ report.

Community and environment

By its nature, the business has numbers of trucks driving on the road each day and the biggest impact on the wider
community is how drivers and employees interact with the community as they carry out their business. We are
committed to reducing incidents involving our fleet and we provide training and hold discussions to promote this with
everyone involved in fleet operations.

Streamlined energy & carbon reporting

None of the group's UK subsidiaries are large companies and therefore, are not obliged to report under the SECR
regulations, Accordingly, the group has excluded the data from the subsidiary companies for its report, The parent
company consumes |ess than 40MWh of energy per year and is, therefore, exempt from providing full disclosure in the
directors’ report.

Approved by the Board on 27 September 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

K Johinson
Director
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Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Directors' Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

The directors present their report and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022,

Directors of the group

The directors, who held office during the year, were as follows:
B Chaing

K Johnson

D Nicholas

G Thwaites (resigned 13 July 2022)

M Chaing

§ Chaing

Principal activities

The principal activity of the company is that of a holding company.

The principal activities of the group are:

- import and distribution of toys, costumes, stationery and seasonal products;
- warehousing, storage services, road haulage, transport and logistics services;
- freight forwarding, associated logistics and distribution including e-fulfilment;
- design, manufacture and distribution of greeting cards;

- information technology consultancy services; and

- provision of courier and pallet transport services,

Dividends
During the year, an interim dividend totalling £1,000,000 was paid (2021 - £1,000,003).

Post balance sheet events

On 29 June 2023 the company declared a dividend of £2,779,440 in respect of the A Ordinary shares and £220,506 in
respect of the B Ordinary shares. There were no conditions or restrictions associated with the dividend,

Financial instruments

Price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow risk

The group's operations expose it to a variety of financial risks including the effects of changes in interest rates on debt,
credit risk and liquidity risk.

The group does not have any material exposures in any of these areas and, consequently does not use derivative
instruments to manage these exposures. The group's principal financial instruments comprise bank loans, preference
shares, sterling cash and bank deposits, together with trade receivables and trade payables that arise directly from its
operations,

The main risks arising from the group’s financial instruments can be analysed as follows:

Price risk

The group is not exposed to equity securities price risk or commeodities price risk. The company is exposed to price risk in
respect of utility bills and general inflation. Significant increases in energy costs have been incurred in the year and are
expected to be sustained in future years. It is unlikely the group will be able to secure fixed price energy contracts in the
short to medium term. High levels of inflation in the economy, coupled with increases in the wage rates, have also led to
costs pressure.

Foreign currerncy risk

The group has no significant foreign currency risk as the majority of the group's transactions are carried out in sterling,

Credit risk

The group has no significant concentrations of customer credit risk. It has policies in place to ensure that sales of
products and services are made to credit approved customers although not alf of the customers are insurable.
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Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Directors' Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

Financial instruments (continued)

Liquidity risk

The group is funded by shareholders' funds, directors’ loans and bank debt. The group is exposed to risk through having
loan repayment obligations as described in note 23. There are no significant repayments falling due immediately and the
group menitors its cash flow and loan maturities carefully to manage these risks.

Cash flow interest rate risk

Group policy is to obtain short term borrowing on fixed rates when required. All current borrowings are on variable rates.

Employment of disabled persons

The directors have maintained the group's established policy of giving full and fair consideration to applications for
employment from disabled persons, and to continue the empioyment and training of employees who become disabled
during their employment with the group.

Employee involvement

Maintaining the quality and commitment of employees is an important factor for the continued success of the group.
Employees' performance is aligned to the group’s objectives through an annual review process that is carried out with all
employees.

Engagement with suppliers, customers and others
We engage with customers at all levels of the business. There is day to day engagement by operations staff making pick

ups and deliveries and by the customer services team, regular engagement by operations managers and key client
contacts, and where necessary by directors to ensure that clients are happy and appropriate contracts are in place.

We take reasonable steps to ensure our suppliers comply with our standards such as those relating to modern slavery.

Going concern
The directors have considered carefully the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis for these accounts.

The Company is part of a larger group, headed by Chaing Equities Limited (the Group) and the ability of the Company to
continye as a going concern is linked to the health of the Group in general. The Company and Group has three primary
sources of funding:

- Cash generated from the profits of the Group;

- Loans from shareholders / directors (which are subordinate to the bank funding described below); and

- Bank facilities provided by HSBC UK Bank plc.

Although each company handles its own cash and bank accounts on a day to day basis, the Group bank facilities and
liquidity in general are managed centrally.

In considering the going concern basis, the directors have prepared & forecast model including monthly profit and loss
accounts, balance sheets and cash flows for the period to 31 December 2024. The forecast is built on a battom up basis,
company by company, and adopts 2022 as its base year. The results for 2022 are based on the actual results. Following
the successful roll-out of vaccines and subsequent relaxation of Covid restrictions during 2021, the impact of Covid-19 on
the forecast is very limited. However, current high rates of inflation, increasing interest rates and the threat of recession
may impact the company and the forecast assumes no significant growth generally.

The Group as a whole has different lines of business and operates across several European countries. The impact of
recession may differ across different countries and different businesses.
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Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Directors’ Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

Going concern (continued)

In our chemicals and materials business, there was a definite downturn in demand during the initial lockdowns across all
territories and turnover fell significantly. 2021 saw some improvement as the effects of Covid eased and this continued
into 2022 with Lantor in particular seeing rapid growth in sales. The operations of these companies were also affected in
2021 by a worldwide shortage of raw materials and spiralling transport costs although again, this eased somewhat in the
first haif of 2022. As @ manufacturing entity, Lantor has been particularly impacted by increases in energy costs and has
seen a near quadrupling of annual spend on energy costs since 2020. However, that has eased slightly toward the end of
2022 and in early 2023. This is not assumed to improve further, indeed total costs are forecast to be higher, although
gas prices have dropped 2 little in recent months. Cost increases have been mitigated by growth in sales and strong cost
Control.

Our logistics businesses, which operate predominantly in the UK, benefited from increased consumer demand online
during the Covid pandemic. As anticipated this has softened during 2022 and the threat of recession means this is
unlikely to improve for the time being. However, over the last 12 months our sales mix has aiso moved more toward B2B
and long term storage customers and this helped us to significantly improve margins during 2022.

With regard to bank facilities, these fall into two main categories:

- Invoice Finance facilities — these provide waorking capital funding for many of the Group companies, particularly those in
the UK,
- Senior debt loan facilities that were used to fund previous acquisitions.

The loan facilities are fully drawn, but the invoice finance facilities are nat. Whilst the drawn balance o invoice finance
facilities fluctuates according to need, those facilities have never been fully drawn and there is no expectation that they
will be. This is supported by the forecasts, which assume no additicnal draw on these facilities and suggest that
considerable headroom will remain available. Cash balances and availability against these facilities are actively monitored
by Group management on a weekly basis.

The bank facilities contain certain covenants that need to be met. The principal covenants relate to leverage and debt
service, ratios that take a measure of EBITDA divided by debt and a measure of cash flow divided by debt service
respectively. Qur leverage must remain below 2.5x (excluding working capital facilities). Our cash flows must remain
above 1.2x debt service requirements. These covenants have been met throughout 2021, 2022 and 2023 to date and the
forecasts indicate that they will continue to be met,

The facilities secure funding for the group until Q1 2025.

In forming their conclusion the directors have also considered various alternative scenarios, principally incorporating
unexpected falls in sales into the farecast, In all scenarios the forecasts show continued strong levels of cash and
continuing availability against invoice finance facilities. This also ignores any further mitigating actions that management
could take if required, for example, further working capital management and/or cost reductions.

As a consequence the directors consider it appropriate to adopt the geoing concern basis for these accounts.
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Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Directors' Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, Directors' Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and reguiations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors
have elected t0 prepare the financial statements in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and the
company and of the profit or loss of the group and the company for that period. In preparing these financial statements,
the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;

- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasenable and prudent;

" state whether applicable international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Cormnpanies Act
2006 have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the group and
the company will continue in business.

The directers are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the group's
and the company's transactions and disdlose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the group and
the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006, They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report in accordance with applicable law and regulations. The
directors consider the annual report and the financial statements, taken as a whole, provides the information necessary
to assess the group's performance, business model and strategy and is fair, balanced and understandable.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the
graup's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom gaverning the preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

To the best of our knowledge:

- the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the company and the undertakings inciuded in the
consolidation taken as a whole; and

" the annual report, including the Strategic Report, includes a fair review of the development and performance of the
business and the position of the company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole,
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

Disclosure of information to the auditor

The directors confirm that:

- so far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit informatien of which the company's auditor is unaware;
and

" the directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as director in order to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditor is aware of that information.

Approved by the Board on 27 September 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

K Johnson
Director
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Cathay Investments 2 Limited

QOpinion

We have audited the financial statements of Cathay Investments 2 Limited (the ‘parent company”) and its subsidiaries
(the *group’) for the year ended 31 December 2022, which comprise Consolidated Income Statement, Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Company Statement of Financial
Position, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Company Statement of Changes in Equity, Consclidated
Statement of Cash Flows, Company Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation
is applicable law and UK-adopted international accounting standards and, as regards the parent company financial
statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion:

e the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs
as at 31 December 2022 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended;

 the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards;

« the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

= the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's
Ethical Standard, and we have fUifilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements, We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion,

Conclusions relating to going concern

We are respansible for concluding on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the group’s and the parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report to the related disclosures in
the financia! statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
group or the parent company to cease to continue as a going concern.

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks associated with the group’s and the
parent company’s business model including effects arising fram macro-economic uncertainties such as the current
econamic environment, we assessed and challenged the reasonableness of estimates made by the directors and the
related disclosures and analysed how those risks might affect the group’s and the parent company’s financial resources
or ability to continue operations over the going concern period.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and the parent company’s ability to
continue as a going concem for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised
for issue.

The responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the 'Responsibilities of directors for
the financial statements’ section of this report.



DocuSign Envelope |1D: F676B10F-AF13-4F27-A40F43A6E2D70787

Independent auditor's report to the members of Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Qther information

The other information comprises the information included in the annuat report, other than the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon., The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report.
Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

¢ the information given in the strategic repert and the directors’ repart for the financial year for which the financial
statemernits are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

» the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matter on which we are required to report under the Companies Act 2006

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their environment obtained
in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ repart.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us
to report to you if, in our opinion:
« adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for cur audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us; or
¢ the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
= certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

= we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statemant set out on page 7, the directors are responsible for
tha preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from materia! misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high fevel of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below:

» We understood how the group and parent are complying with those legal and regulatory frameworks by making
enquiries of management, those responsible for legal and compliance procedures and the company secretary, We
corroborated our enquiries through our review of board minutes and correspondence received from regulatory
bodies,

+ We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the group and parent
and determined that the most significant which are directly relevant to specific assertions in the financial statements
are those related to the reporting frameworks (International and UK GAAP and the Companies Act 2006).

« In addition, we cancluded that there are certain significant laws and regulations that may have an effect an the
determination of the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and those laws and regulations relating to
heelth and safety, employee matters, environmental, and bribery and corruption practices.
* We assessed the susceptibility of the group and parent's financial statements to material misstatement, including
how fraud might occur, by evaluating management's incentives and opportunities for manipulation of the financial
statements, This included the evaluation of the risk of management override of controls, We determined that the
principal risks were in relation to:
o journal entries on unusual user postings, unexpected dates ang those journals around the year end; and
o potential management bias in journals, determining accounting estimates and any significant transactions
outside of the normal conduct of business operatians.
 Our audit procedures involved:
o evaluation of the design effectiveness and assessing the design effectiveness of controls that management
has in place to prevent and detect fraud;
o journal entry testing, including those with unusual user postings, unexpected dates and those journals around
the year end;

o challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant accounting estimates; and

o assessing the extent of compliance with the relevant laws and regulations as part of our progedures on the
related financial statement item.

« In addition, we completed audit procedures to conclude on the compliance of disclosures in the report and
accounts with applicable financial reporting requirements.

» These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements were free
from fraugd or error. The risk of not detecting @ material misstaterment due to fraud is higher than the risk of not
detecting one resulting from error and detecting irregularities that result from fraud is inherentdy mare difficult than
detecting those that result from error, as fraud may involve collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional
misrepresentations, Also, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from events and
transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would become aware of it.

10



DocuSign Envelope 1D: F678B10F-AF13-4F27-A40F-43A6E2D7D 787

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

« The engagement partner assessed whether the engagement team collectively had the appropriate competence
and capabilities to identify or recognise non-compliance with laws and regulations through the following:

o understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a similar nature and complexity
through appropriate training and participation; and
o knowledge of the industry in which the client operates.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc,org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s
report.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditors report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a
bady, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

G]m.l ﬂ; s =

Marc Summers BSc (Hons) FCA

Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
LONDON

Date: 27/9/2023

11



DocuSign Envelope |D: F676B10F-AF13-4F27-A40F-43A6E2D7D787

Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Consolidated Income Statement for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note £ £
Revenue 5 39,371,328 43,418,713
Cost of sales (18,681,917) (22,035,093)
Gross profit 20,689,411 21,383,620
Other income 6 39,027 104,604
Distribution costs (3,845,599) (4,401,793)
Administrative expenses (15,030,291) {14,081,707)
Operating profit 7 1,852,548 3,004,724
Finance income 10,403 3,492
Finance costs (1,395,322) (1,398,270)
Net finance costs 8 (1,384,919) {1,394,778)
Profit before tax 467,629 1,609,946
Tax charge 12 (84,002) (84,611)
Profit for the year 383,627 1,525,335
Profit attributable to:
Owners of the company 383,627 1,525,335

The above resuits were derived from continuing operations.

The nates on pages 21 to 51 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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DocuSign Envelope |1D: F676B10F-AF13-4F27-A40F-43A6E2D7D787

Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended 31 December

2022
2022 2021
£ £
Profit for the year 383,627 1,525,335
Total comprehensive income for the year 383,627 1,525,335
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Gwners of the company 383,627 1,525,335

The notes on pages 21 to 51 farm an integral part of these financial statements.
13



DocuSign Envelope ID: F676B10F-AF 13-4F27-A40F43A6E207D787

Cathay Investments 2 Limited

(Registration number: 07475530)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Investments

Deferred tax assets

Current assets
Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Equity

Share capital

Capital redemption reserve

Retained earnings

Equity attributable to owners of the company

Non-current Kabilities
Loans and borrowings
Provisions

Lease liability

Deferred tax liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings
Provisions

Lease liability

Corporation tax liability

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Note

13
14
15
12

18
19
20

21

23
25
17
12

26
23
25
17

Apgroved by the Board on 27 September 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

. w o

K Johnson
Director

The notes on pages 21 to 51 form an integral part of these financial statements,
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2022 2021
£ £
30,098,483 32,618,382
4,487,238 3,766,914

10,000 -
. 99,422
34,595,721 36,484,718
957,954 918,016
8,978,319 8,131,473
3,552,745 5,150,815
13,489,018 14,201,304
48,084,739 50,686,022
14,001 14,802

801 -
(497,070) 491,714
(482,268) 506,516
7,155,378 6,382,011
1,115,072 974,000
25,574,987 27,637,450
561,702 355,354
34,407,139 35,348,815
6,107,831 6,416,113
954,841 944,041
3,199,163 2,589,167
3,898,033 4,449,384
- 431,986
14,159,868 14,830,691
48,567,007 50,179,506
48,084,739 50,686,022




DocuSign Envelope |1D: F676B10F-AF 13-4F27-A40F43A6E2D7D787

Cathay Investments 2 Limited

(Registration number: 07475530Q)
Company Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022

2022 2G21
Note £ £
Non-current assets
Investments 15 14,432,538 12,766,699
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 18 1,254,720 721,279
Cash and cash equivalents 20 81,325 251,093
1,336,045 972,372
Total assets 15,768,583 13,739,071
Equity
Share capital 21 14,001 14,802
Capitat redemption reserve 801 -
Retained earnings 4,622,726 6,164,233
Total equity 4,637,528 6,179,035
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 23 7,132,011 6,382,011
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 26 3,055,003 233,984
Loans and borrowings 23 944,041 944,041
3,859,044 1,178,025
Total liabilities 11,131,055 7,560,036
Total equity and liabilities 15,768,583 13,739,071

Approved by the Board on 27 September 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Lo Jelunsan
K Johinson
Director

The notes on pages 21 to 51 farmm an inteyral part of these hinancial statements.
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DocuSign Envelope 1D: F676810F-AF13-4F27-A40F-43ABE2D7D787

Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

At 1 January 2021

Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income
Dividends paid

At 31 December 2021

At 1 January 2022
Profit for the year
Total comprehensive income

Repurchase and cancellation of share capital

Dividends paid
At 31 December 2022

Total equity
attributable to

Capital the owners of
redemption Retained the parent
Share capital reserve earnings company
£ £ £ £
14,802 - (33,618) (18,816}
- - 1,525,335 1,525,335
- - 1,525,335 1,525,335
- - (1,000,003) (1,000,003)
14,802 - 491,714 506,516
Total equity
attributable to
the owners of
Retained the parent
Share capital Share capital earnings company
£ £ E £
14,802 - 491,714 506,516
- - 383,627 383,627
- - 383,627 383,627
(801) 801 (372,411) (372,411)
- - (1,000,300) (1,000,000)
14,001 801 (497,070) (482,268)

16

The notes an pages 21 to 51 form an integral part of these financial statements.



DocuSign Envelope 1D: F§76B10F-AF13-4F27-A40F-43AGE2D7D787

Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Company Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

Capital
redemption Retained
Share capital reserve earnings Total
£ £ £ £
At 1 January 2021 14,802 - 388,874 403,676
Profit for the year - - 6,775,362 6,775,362
Total comprehensive income - - 6,775,362 6,775,362
Dividends paid - - {1,000,003) {1,000,003)
At 31 December 2021 14,802 - 6,164,233 6,179,035
Capital
redemption Retained
Share capital reserve earnings Total
£ £ £ £
At 1 January 2022 14,802 - 6,164,233 6,179,035
Loss for the year - - (169,096) (169,096)
Total comprehensive income - - (169,096) (169,096)
Repurchase and cancellation of share capital (801) 801 (372,411) (372,411)
Dividends paid - - (1,000,000)  (1,000,000)
At 31 December 2022 14,001 801 4,622,726 4,637,528

The notes on pages 21 to 51 form an integral part of thase tinancial statements.
17



DocuSign Envelope ID: F676B10F-AF 13-4F27-A40F-43A6E2D70D787

Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note £ E
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 383,627 1,525,335
Adjustments to cash flows from non-cash items:
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 6,059,279 5,804,804
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (14,917) (68,777)
Finance income 8 (10,403) (3,492)
Finance costs 8 1,395,322 1,398,270
Tax charge 12 84,002 84,611
7,896,910 8,740,751
Working capital adjustments:
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 18 (38,938) 116,700
Decrease in trade and other receivables 19 875,706 4,505,596
Decrease in trade and other payables 26 (1,755,160) (7,447,328)
Increase in provisions 25 751,068 588,167
Decrease in deferred tax 12 (114,443) (64,318}
Cash generated from operations 7,615,143 6,439,568
Income taxes paid (585,069) (802,422)
Net cash flow from operating activities 7,030,074 5,637,146
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 8 10,403 3,492
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment (166,954) (52,684)
Acquisitions of intangible fixed assets - (8,057)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 24,778 -
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition 16 (1,608,360) -
Net cash from investing activities (1,740,133) (97,249)

The notes on pages 21 to 51 form an integral part of these financial statements,
18



DocuBign Envelope ID: F676B10F-AF13-4F 27-A40F-43ABE2D7D787

Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note £ £
Cash flow from finanring artivities
Interest paid (1,395,322) (1,398,270)
Repurchase of ordinary shares (372,411) -
Proceeds from issue of preference shares 23 750,000 -
Dividends paid (1,000,000) (1,000,003)
Repayment of loans and borrowings 23 (7,229) (1,0600,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities (4,823,471) (4,227,844)
{Decrease)/increase in invoice discounting facility 26 (39,578) 2,176,987
Net cash from financing activities (6,888,011) (5,449,130)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,598,070) 90,767
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 20 5,150,815 5,060,048
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 20 3,552,745 5,150,815

The notes & payes 21 Lo 51 form an Integral part of these tinancial statements.
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Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Company Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note £ £
Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss)/profit for the year (169,096) 6,775,361
Adjustments to cash flows from non-cash items:
Finance income (3,229) (7,091,007)
Finance costs 282,567 226,298
110,242 (89,438)
Working capital adjustments:
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 19 (533,441) 1,015,289
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 26 2,821,019 (5,641,813)
Net cash flows from operating activities 2,397,820 (4,715,962)
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 3,229 160
Dividends received - 7,090,937
Acquisition of subsidiaries 15 (1,665,839) -
Net cash flows from investing activities (1,662,610) 7,091,097
Cash flows from financing activities
Interast paid (282,567) (226,298)
Repurchase of ordinary shares 21 (372,411) -
Proceeds from issue of preference shares 23 750,000 -
Dividends paid (1,000,000) (1,000,003}
Repayment of lcans and borrowings 23 - (1,000,000)
Net cash flows from financing activities (904,978) (2,226,301)
Net (decrease)fincrease in cash and cash equivalents (169,768) 148,834
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 20 251,093 102,259
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 20 81,325 251,093

The notes on pages 21 t& 51 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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DocuSign Envelope ID: F676B10F-AF13-4F27-A40F 43A6E2D70D787

Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022
1 General infeormation

The company is a private company limited by share capital incorporated and domicited in England and Wales.

The natire of the group's and the company's operations and its principal activities are set out in the Strategic Report and
the Directors’ Report.

The address of its registered office and principal place of business is:
43 Friends Road

Croydon

United Kingdom

CRO 1ED

2  Adoption of new and revised standards
New standards, interpretations and amendments effective

During the financial year, there were no new IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that were effective for the first time that
would be expected to have a material impact on the group and the company.

The following pronouncements have been adopted in the year and either had no impact on the financial statement or
resulted in changes to presentation and disclosure only:

- Annual improvements to the IFRS standards 2018-2020 Cycle (Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16); effective 1
January 2022

- Onerous Contracts - Cost of fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37); effective 1 January 2022

- Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16); effective 1 January 2022
- Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3); effective 1 January 2022

New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards and interpretations relevant to the
group and the company, which have not been applied in these financial statements, were in issue but not vet effective:

- Classification regarding the disclosure of accounting policies (Amendments to IAS 1); effective 1 January 2023

- Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8); effective 1 January 2023

- Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabiliies arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS 12); effective 1
January 2023

- Leases: Seller-lessee subsequently measuring sale and leaseback {(amendmerts to IFRS 16); effective 1 January 2024
- Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1); effective 1 January 2024

None of the other standards, interpretations and amendments which are effective for periods beginning after 1 January
2023 and which have not been adopted early are expected to have a material effect on the financial statements.
Management anticipates that all relevant pronouncements wilt be adopted for the first period beginning on or after the
effective date of the pronouncement.

3 Accounting policies

Statement of cempliance
The group and company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRS) including standards and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB}
and in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

Summary of significant accounting policies and key accounting estimates
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presanted, unless otherwise stated,
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Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

3  Accounting policies (continued)

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 on an accruals basis and under historical cost accounting rules.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Actuai results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revisicn affects only that period or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the group cperates and rounded to the nearest pound.

Going concern
The directors have considered carefully the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis for these accounts.

The company is part of a larger group, headed by Chaing Equities Limited (the group) and the ability of the Company to
contihue as a going concern is linked to the health of the group in general. The company and group has three primary
sources of funding:

- Cash generated from the profits of the group;

- Loans from shareholders / directors (which are subordinate to the bank funding described below); and

- Bank facllities provided by HSBC UK Bank plc.

Although each company handles its own cash and bank accounts on a day to day basis, the Group bank facilities and
liquidity in general are managed centrally.

In considering the going concern basis, the directors have prepared a forecast model including monthly profit and loss
accounts, balance sheets and cash flows for the period to 31 December 2024. The forecast is built on a bottom up basis,
company by company, and adopts 2022 as its base year. The results for 2022 are based on the actual results. Following
the successful roli-out of vaccines and subsequent relaxation of Covid restrictions during 2021, the impact of Covid-19 on
the forecast is very limited. However, current high rates of inflation, increasing interest rates and the threat of recession
may impact the company and the forecast assumes no significant growth generally.

The Group as a whole has different lines of business and operates across several European countries, The impact of
recession may differ across different countries and different businesses.

In our chemicals and materials business, there was a definite downturn in demand during the initial lockdowns across all
territories and turnover fell significantly. 2021 saw some improvement as the effects of Covid eased and this continued
into 2022 with Lantor in particular seeing rapid growth in sales. The operations of these companies were also affected in
2021 by a worldwide shortage of raw materials and spirailing transport costs although again, this eased somewhat in the
first half of 2022, As @ manufacturing entity, Lantor has been particularly impacted by increases in energy costs and has
seen a near quadrupling of annual spend on energy costs since 2020. However, that has eased slightly toward the end of
2022 and in early 2023, This is not assumed to improve further, indeed total costs are forecast to be higher, although gas
prices have dropped a little in recent months. Cost increases have been mitigated by growth in sales and strong cost
control.

Qur logistics businesses, which operate predominantly in the UK, benefited from increased consumer demand online
during the Covid pandemic. As anticipated this has softened during 2022 and the threat of recession means this is unlikely
to improve for the time being. However, over the last 12 months our sales mix has also moved more toward B2B and long
term storage customers and this helped us to significantly improve margins during 2022.
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Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Nates to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022
3  Accounting policies (continued)

Going concern (continued)

With regard to bank facilities, these fall into two main categories:

- Invoice Finance facilities - these provide working capital funding for many of the Group companies, parhicularly those in
the UK.

- Senior debt loan facilities that were used to fund previous acquisitions.

The loan facilities are fully drawn, but the invoice finance facilities are not. Whilst the drawn balance on invoice finance
facilities fluctuates according to need, those facilities have never been fully drawn and there is no expectation that they
will be, This is supported by the forecasts, which assume no additional draw on these facilities and suggest that
considerable headrgom will remain available. Cash balances and availability against these facilities are actively monitored
by Group management on a weekly basis.

The bank facilities contain certain covenants that need to be met. Ihe principal covenants relate to leverage and debt
service, ratios that take a measure of EBITDA divided by debt and a measure of cash flow divided by debt service
respectively. Our leverage must remain below 2.5x {excluding working capital facilities). Our cash flows must remain
abave 1.2x debt service requirements. These covenants have been met throughout 2021, 2022 and 2023 to date and the
forecasts indicate that they will continue to be met.

The facilities secure funding for the group until Q1 2025.

In forming their conclusion the directors have also considered various alternative scenarios, principally incorporating
unexpected falls in sales into the forecast. In all scenarios the forecasts show continued strong levels of cash and
continuing availability against invoice finance facilities. This also ignores any further mitigating actions that management
could take if required, for example, further working capital management and/or cost reduchons,

As a consequence the directors consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis for these accounts.

Basis of consolidation
The group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the company and its subsidiary undertakings drawn
up to 31 December 2022.

Three of the subsidiary undertakings has a reporting date of 30 December 2022, This is not deemed to be materially
different to the Cathay Investments 2 Limited reporting date.

No income statement is presented for the company as permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. The company
made a loss after tax for the financial year of £169,096 (2021 - profit after tax £6,775,362).

A subsidiary is an entity contralied by the company. Control is achieved where the company has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity 50 as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with
those used by the group.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between the company and its subsidiaries,
which are related parties, are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Intra-group losses are also eliminated but may indicate an impairment that requires recognition in the consolidated
financial statements.

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the group.
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Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022
3  Accounting policies {(continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue arises mainly from the provision of third party logistics services (including warehousing and freight forwarding),
provision of courier and pallet transport services and the sale of toys, stationery and greetings cards.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the group follows a 5-step process:
Identifying the contract with a customer

Identifying the performance obligations

Determining the transaction price

Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

Recognising revehue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.

Wb W

The group often enters into transactions involving a range of the group’s products and services. In ail cases, the total
transaction price for a contract is allocated amaongst the various performance obligations based on their relative stand-
alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the group satisfies performance obligations by
transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.

The group recognises contract liabilities for consideration received in respect of unsatisfied performance obligations and
reports these amounts as other payables in the statement of financial position. Similarly, if the group satisfies a
performance cbligation before it receives the consideration, the group recognises either a contract asset or a receivable in
its statement of financial position, depending on whether something other than the passage of time is required before the
consideration is due.

For third party logisticé services and courier and pallet transport services, performance obligations are satisfied and
revenue is recognised ¢n the basis of activity performed by the group in the supply of the service. For the sale of toys,
stationery and greetings cards revenue is recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have
transferred to the buyer which is usually at the point the customer has signed for delivery of the goods.

Amounts recoverable on long term contracts, being the amount by which recorded as turnaver is in excess of payments on
account, is classified under debtors.

Government grants

The group has benefited from government grant support, in fight of the Coronavirus pandemic, by way of the Coronavirus
Job Retention Scheme (CIRS). These grants were received to compensate the group for the wages, associated national
insurance and employers pension contributions of employees on furlough leave.

The CIRS grants are recognised at the date at which it is reasonably assured that the company and group will comply with
the conditions attached and the grants will be received. The CIRS grants are recognised within other income in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income and net netted against the wages and salaries expenses.

Foreign currency transactions and balances

In preparing the financial statements, transactions in foreign currencies are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the remeasurement of monetary items denominated in foreign currency at year-end exchange rates are recognised

in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items are not retranslated at year-end and are measured at histarical cost (translated using the exchange
rates at the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.
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Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022
3 Accounting policies (continued)

Tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except that a
charge attributable te an item of income or expense recognised as cther comprehensive income is also recegnised directly
in gther comprehensive income.

The tax currently payable is based on the taxable profit for the periad. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as
reported in the statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other periods and items that are never taxable or deductible, The group's and company's corporation tax
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and defarred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that such taxable profits will
be available, against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
If the temporary differences arise from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recegnition of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profits nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer prohable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is setled or the asset
is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the statement of comprehensive income, except when it relates to items
tharged or credited directly to equity, in which case deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment loss. The
group and the company recognises the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and the subsequent costs of
replacing part of such items when there is an indication of future economic benefit. All other costs are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income as an expense as they are incurred.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income,

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment is not deprediated unitit it is brought into use.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets less their estimated residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as fallows:

Asset class Depreciation methed and rate

Freehold buildings 2% per annum straight line

Leasehald buildings 5 - 10% per annum straight line and shorter of lease
life and 15 years per annum straight line

Plant and equipment Between 3 and 15 years per annum straight line
and 15% per annum reducing balance

Fixtures and fittings 10 - 33% per annum straight line and 15 - 25% per

annum reducing balance
Motor vehicles 12.5 - 33% per annum reducing balance

In the case of right-of-use assets, expected useful lives are determined by reference to comparable owned assets or the
lease term, if shorter. Material residual value estimates and estimates of useful life are updated as required, but at least
annually,
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Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022
3 Accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations that result in the acquisition of
subsidiaries by the group. The cost of a business combination is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised is recorded as goodwill. If, after reassessment, the group’s interest in
the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business
combination, the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

Goodwill
Goodwill comprises goodwill arising on consolidation and goodwill arising at acquisition.

Goodwill arising on cansolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the group's interest in the fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset
at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill which is recognised as an
asset is reviewed for impairment at least annually. Any impairment is recognised immediately in profit and loss and is not
subsequently reversed.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to units of the business to which independent cash flows can
largely be attributed {"cash-generating units"). Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested far
impairment annually, or more frequently where there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit,

On disposal of a cash-generating unit the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or
loss on disposal.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any recognised impairment loss.

Customer-related intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recagnised at fair value at the acquisition date.

Amortisation
Goodwill is not subject to amortisation but is tested for impairment.

Amortisation is provided on intangible assets so as to write off the cost, less any estimated residual value, over their
axpected useful economic life as follows:

Asset class Amortisation method and rate

Contractual customer relationships 25% - 50% per annum straight line
Development expenditure Between 3 and 6 years per annum straight line
Website costs 10 years per anum straight line
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3 Accounting pelicies (continued)

Leasing
All leases are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide variety of different terms and conditions.

The group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. A lease conveys the right to
direct the use and cbtain substantiaily all of the ecanomic benefits of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee:

At the lease commencement date, the group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the statement of
financial position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which comprises of the initial measurement of the liability,
any initial direct costs incurred by the group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the
lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date.

The group depreciates right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the
end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The group also assesses the right-of-use asset
for impairment when such indicators exist.

At the commencement date, the group measures tha lease liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at
that date, discounted using the group incremental borrowing rate because as the lease contracts are negotiated with third
parties it is not possible to determine the interest rate that is implicit in the lease. The incremental borrowing rate is the
estimated rate that the group would have to pay to borrow the same amount over a similar term, and with similar security
to obtain an asset of equivalent value.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced by lease payments that are allocated between repayments
of principal and finance costs. The finance cost is the amount that produces a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the lease liability.

The group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical expedients.
Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments
Investments in equity shares which are not publicly traded and where fair value cannot be measured reliably are

measured at cost less impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and call deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. This
definition is also used for the statement of cash flaws.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the transaction price, They are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provisicn for the impairment of trade receivables
is established when there is objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of the receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset's carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The amount of the provision is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using either the first-in, first-out
(FIFQ) method.

Cost includes all directly attributable expenditure necessary to bring the stocks to their existing condition and location.

An allowance is recorded for obsoclescence.
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Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at the transaction price and subseguently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings
All borrowings are initially recorded at the amount of proceeds received, net of transaction costs. Borrowings are

subsequently carried at amortised cost, with the difference between the proceeds, net of transaction costs, and the
amount due on redemption being recognised as a charge to the statement of comprehensive income over the period of
the relevant borrowing.

Interest expense is recognised on the basis of the effective interest method and is included in finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the group has an unconditional right to defer setdement of the liability
for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised where a legal or constructive obligation has been incurred which will probably lead to an outflow
of resources that can be reasonably estimated. Provisions are recorded for the estimated ultimate liability that is expected
to arise, taking into account the time value of money. A contingent liability is disclosed where the existence of the
abligations will anly be confirmed by future events, or where the amount of the cbligation cannot be measured with
reasonable reliabifity.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the group reviews the carrying amount of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where
the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Equity instruments are measured at the fair value of the cash or other resources

received or receivable, net of the direct costs of issuing the equity instruments. If payment is deferred and the time value
of money is material, the initial measurement is on a present value basis.

Redeemable preference shares have the characteristics of a liability and are recognised in the statement of financial
position as a liability, net of issue costs.

Dividends

Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the company’s financial statements in the
peried in which the dividends are approved by the company’s shareholders prior to the reporting date.

Defined contribution pensicn obligation
Payments to group defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due.
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Financial assets and liabilities

Recagnition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the financial insgrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, ar when
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is
extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured at the
transaction price in accordance with TFRS 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for
transaction costs. Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are classified into
the following categories:

- amortised cost

- fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

- fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

In the periods presented the group does not have any financial assets categorised as FVTPL or FVOCI.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance costs,
finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivabies which is presented within other
expenses.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions:

- they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash
flows

- the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is omitted
where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The group’s cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall
into this categary of financial instruments.

Impairment of financial assets

Recognition of credit losses is no longer dependent on the group first identifying a credit loss event. Instead the group
considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring expected credit losses, including past
events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future cash
flows of the instrument. In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:

- financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or that have low
credit risk (‘Stage 1’} and

- financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition and whose credit risk is
net low (*Stage 2.

‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

*12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category while ‘lifetime expected credit losses’ are
recognised for the second category. Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument.
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3  Accounting policies (continued)

Trade and other receivables and contract assets

The group makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables as well as contract assets and
records the loss allowance as lifetime expected credit [osses. These are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows,
considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the financial instrument. In calculating, the group uses
its historical experience, external indicators and forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit losses using a
provision matrix. The group assess impairment of trade receivables on a collective basis as they possess shared credit risk

characteristics.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
The group’s financia! liabilities include borrowings, leases, trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transacticn costs unless the
group designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

All interest-related charges are reported in profit or loss and are included within finance costs or finance income,
4  Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the group's accounting paiicies, the following judgements and key assumptions concerning the
future have had the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Provision for dilapidations

Provision is made for difapidations due to be carried out on leased properties. Provisions are recognised when
management are satisfied that an outflow of economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the
abligation, The determination of the dilapidation provision requires significant judgement.

In making this judgement, the group considers the likelihood of being able to sublet the properties, the expected level of
rentals, expected future trading conditions, whether uneconomic sites will be closed and sublet, the dilapidations required
under the terms of the lease, and the anticipated condition of properties at the end of the lease.

Provision for rates

Provision is made for rates due at one of the sites in which the group operates. The site has not been assessed for rates
and therefore no invoice for rates has been provided to date. Provisions are recognised when management are satisfied
that an outflow of economic benefits is probable, and a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation. The determination
of the rates pravision requires significant judgement. Management have engaged an expert to assist in reviewing and
estimating the provision for rates.

Leases - incremental borrowing rate

At the commencement date of a lease, the group measures the lease liability as the present value of the lease payments
unpaid at that date, discounted using the group's incremental borrowing rate (IBR}.

The IBR is the estimated rate that the group would have to pay to borrow the same amount over a similar term, and with
similar security to obtain an asset of equivalent value. A different IBR has been selected for each class of leased asset;
buildings, cars, commercial equipment and office equipment.

In determining the IBR for each class of leased asset, current commercially available information for comparable lease
types were reviewed and the most appropriate rates selected. The determination of the IBR requires significant
judgement.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The group tests goodwill, at least annually for impairment, and tests all other tangible and intangible assets when
indicators of impairment exist. Impairment is determined with reference to the higher of net realisable value and value in
use, Value in use is estimated using adjusted future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate present value. Significant other assumptions are made in estimating future cash flows about future
events, including future market conditions and future growth rates. Changes in these assumptions could affact the
outcome of impairment reviews.
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4  Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Goodwill and intangible assets

The group establishes a reliable estimate of the useful life of goodwill and intangible assets arising on business
combination. This estimate is based on a variety of factors such as the expected use of the acquired business, the
expected useful life of the cash generating units to which any goodwill is attributed, any legal or regulatory provisions that
can limit useful life and assumptions that market participants would consider in respect of similar businesses,

Provision for bad debts

The directors have reviewed the ageing of the trade debtors at the year end and the level of recovery following the year
end. The provision is based on historical experience of recovery and the ageing of debts as well as specific knowledge of
the solvency ability to pay of the group's customers at the reporting date and the level of coverage provided by the
group's credil insurance.

Inventory valuation

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The determination of inventory provisions requires
significant judgement. In making this judgement the group evaluates amongst other factors the age and physical condition
of inventory and its expected saleability based on forecast demand for the products taking into account expected trading
conditions.

5 Revenue

The analysis of the group's revenue for the year is as follows:

2022 2021

£ E

Revenue from contracts with customers 39,371,328 43,418,713
39,371,328 43,418,713

In the following tables, revenue from contracts with customers is disaggregated by primary geographical market, major
product and service lines and timing of revenue recognition:

2022 2021
£ £
Primary geographical markets
UK 39,287,464 43,418,713
Europe 58,628 -
Rest of world 25,236 -
39,371,328 43,418,713
Major products and service lines
Third party warehousing and logistics 28,947,837 38,010,014
Courier and pallet transport 5,695,786 -
Toys, stationery and greetings cards 4,727,705 5,407,446
IT services - 1,253
39,371,328 43,418,713
Tuming of revenue recognition
Products transferred at a point in time 4,510,556 5,407,446
Services transferred over time 34,860,772 38,011,267
39,371,328 43,418,713
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6 Other income

2022 2021
E £
Insurance claims 38,256 -
Government grants received 771 104,504
39,027 104,604
7  Operating profit
Arrived at after charging/(crediting):
2022 2021
£ E
Depreciation expense 5,147,767 5,131,554
Amortisation expense 911,512 673,250
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses (401) 9,795
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (14,917) 674
Exceptional item - redundancy costs 57,419 141,767
Exceptional item - other costs 58,901 2,018
Exceptional item - Rhys Davies & Sons Limited - administration costs 227 56,365
Exceptional item - aborted transaction and other legal costs 5,150 59,437
Exceptional item - Rhys Davies & Sons Limited - funds returned by Administrators (137,000) (200,000)
Exceptional item - legal costs relating to historic court case 75 62,895
Exceptional item - exit costs for toys division customer - 26,660
Exceptional item - bad debts 10,850 11,349
Exceptional item - claim settlement (42,000) -
Exceptional item - dilapidation costs 4,000 -
8 Net finance costs
2022 2021
£ £
Finance income
Interest income on bank deposits 10,403 3,492
Finance costs
Interest on bank overdrafts and borrowings (320,157) (255,343)
Interest expense on leasing arrangements (1,075,165) (3,142,927)

(1,395,322) (1,398,270)

Net finance costs from continuing operations (1,384,919) (1,394,778)

32



DocuSign Envelope ID: F676810F-AF 13-4F27-A40F-43A6E2D70787

Cathay Investments 2 Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

9 Staff costs
The aggregate payroll costs from continuing operations were as follows:

2022 2021

E £

Wages and salaries 6,451,035 6,856,214
Social security costs 607,289 555,508
Pension and other post-employment benefit costs 176,647 135,496
Redundancy and payment in lieu 57,419 141,767
7,292,390 7,688,985

During the year, the group received government grant support by way of the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CIRS).
The total grant income received was £771 (2021 - £104,604) which is included within other income in the statement of
comprehensive income. The staff costs are shown gross of the CIRS grants received.

The average number of persons employed by the group (including directors) during the year, analysed by category was as

follows:
2022 2021
No. No.
Administration and support 29 40
Sales 5 6
Marketing 1 1
Distribution 248 243
Management 7 4
290 294

Directors' remuneration is borne by Cathay Investments Limited - a related party due to common control.

10 Directors’ remuneration
The directors' remuneration for the year was as follows:

2022 2021
£ £
Remuneraticn 391,028 437,581
The directors' remuneration is paid by Cathay Investments Limited, another company in the group.
The highest paid director's emoluments were as follows:
2022 2021
E E
Remuneration 131,161 131,814
Pension and other post-employment benefit costs 1,321 1,318
11 Auditor's remuneration
2022 2021
£ £
Audit of the financial statements 28,750 25,000
Audit of the fi i f idiari
u‘| 0‘ e financial statements of subsidiaries of the company pursuant to 158,875 103,500
legislation
187,625 128,500
Other fees to auditors
Taxation compliance services 28,600 25,000
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12 Tax

Tax charge in the income statement:

Current taxation

UK corparation tax

UK corperation tax adjustment to prior periods

Total current income tax

Deferred taxation

Arising from origination and reversai of temporary differences
Effect of tax rate change on opening balance

Adjustments in respect of previous periods

Total deferred taxation

Tax expense in the income statement

2022 2021

£ £
292,206 387,150
(93,762) (238,220)
198,444 148,930
(130,778) 45,386
- (31,334)

16,336 _(78,371)

(114,442) (64,319)
84,002 84,611

The tax on profit before tax for the year is higher than the standard rate of carporation tax in the UK (2021 - higher than

the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK) of 19% (2021 - 19%).

The differences are reconciled below:

Profit before tax from continuing operations

Corporation tax at standard rate

Decrease in current tax from adjustment for prior periods

Increase from effect of capital aliowances depreciation

Increase from effect of expenses not deductible in determining taxable profit
Deferred tax not recognised

Deferred tax credit relating to changes in tax rates of laws

Decrease in deferred tax from adjustment for prior periods

Other difference leading to an increase in taxation

Total tax expense/(credit)}
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2022 2021
£ E
467,629 1,605,946
88,850 305,890
(93,762) (241,246)
69,766 37,114
13,725 6,743
26,831 55,048
(7,126) (45,344)
16,336 (78,371)
(30,617) 44,778
94,002 84,611
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12 Tax {continued)

Deferred tax

Gronp
Deferred tax assets and liabilities

2022

Accelerated tax depreciation
Tax losses carry-forwards
Other items

2021

Accelerated tax depreciation
Tax losses carry-forwards
Other items

Deferred tax movement during the year:

Accelerated tax depreciation
Tax losses carry-forwards
Other items

Net tax assets/(liabilities)

Deferred tax movement during the prior year:

Accelerated tax depreciation
Tax losses carry-forwards
Other items

Net tax assets/(liabilities)

Net deferred
Asset Liability tax
£ E £
- (225,766) (225,766}
- 6,498 6,498
- (342,434) (342,434)
- (561,702) (561,702)
Net deferred
Asset Liability tax
£ £ £
99,066 (344,787 (245,721)
227 - 227
130 (10,567) (10,437)
99,423 (355,354) {255,931)
At 31
At 1 January Arising on Recognised in December
2022 acquisition income 2022
£ £ £ £
(245,721) (103,713) 123,668 (225,766)
227 - 6,271 6,498
(10,437) (316,500) {15,497) (342,434)
(255,931) (420,213) 114,442 (561,702)
At 31
At 1 January Recognised in December
2021 income 2021
£ £ £
16,478 (262,199) (245,721)
3,804 (3,577 227
(340,532) 330,095 (10,437}
(320,250} 64,319 (255,931)
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13 Praperty, plant and equipment

Group
Furniture,
Land and fittings and
buildings equipment  Motor vehicles Total
£ E E £

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2021 42,550,865 14,724,094 313,083 57,588,042
Additions 9,256 234,772 - 244,028
Disposals (98,875) (494,475) (13,648) (606,998)
At 31 December 2021 42,461,246 14,464,391 299,435 57,225,072
At 1 January 2022 42,461,246 14,464,391 299,435 57,225,072
Additions - 1,233,002 25,205 1,258,207
Acquired through business combinations 782,619 595,050 - 1,377,669
Disposals - £1,047,387) (79,845) {1,127,236)
At 31 December 2022 43,243,865 15,245,056 244,791 58,733,712
Depreciation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2021 9,105,585 10,882,366 150,360 20,138,311
Charge for the year 3,860,803 1,246,487 24,264 5,131,554
Eliminated on disposals (96,875) {559,2590) (7,010) (663,175)
At 31 December 2021 12,869,513 11,569,563 167,614 24,606,690
At 1 January 2022 12,869,513 11,569,563 167,614 24,606,690
Transfer to intangible fixed assets - (1,853) - {1,853)
Charge for the year 3,918,531 1,184,229 45,007 5,147,767
Eliminated on disposals - (1,053,054) {64,321) (1,117,375}
At 31 December 2022 16,788,044 11,698,885 148,300 28,635,229
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022 26,455,821 3,546,171 96,491 30,058,483
At 31 December 2021 29,591,733 2,894,828 131,821 32,618,382
At 1 January 2021 33,445,280 3,841,728 162,723 37,449,731

Included within the net book value of land and buildings above is £101,634 (2021 - £101,634) in respect of freghold land
and buildings and £26,354,187 (2021 - £29,490,099) in respect of shott leasehold land and buildings.

Pledged as secutity
Freehold land and buildings with & carrying amount of £101,634 (2021 - £101,634) have been pledged as security for the
group's other bank borrowings.

Included in the net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment are right-of-use assets as follows:

2022 2021

E E
Land and buildings 23,258,701 26,013,706
Furniture, fittings and equipment 2,744,372 2,247,883
Mator vehicles 58,103 98,850

26,061,176 28,360,439
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14 Intangible assets

Group
Other
intangible
Goodwill assets Total
£ £ £
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2021 5,451,435 7,074,456 12,525,891
Additions - 8,057 8,057
At 31 December 2021 5,451,435 7,082,513 12,533,948
At 1 January 2022 5,451,435 7,082,513 12,533,948
Additions 367,689 - 367,689
Acquired through business combinations - 1,266,000 1,266,000
At 31 December 2022 5,819,124 8,348,513 14,167,637
Amortisation
At 1 January 2021 2,814,661 5,279,123 8,093,784
Amortisation charge - 673,250 673,250
At 31 December 2021 2,814,661 5,952,373 8,767,034
At 1 January 2022 2,814,661 5,952,373 8,767,034
Transfer from property, piant and equipment - 1,853 1,853
Amartisation charge - 911,512 911,512
At 31 December 2022 2,814,661 6,865,738 9,680,399
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022 3,004,463 1,482,775 4,487,238
At 31 December 2021 2,636,774 1,130,140 3,766,914
At 1 January 2021 2,636,774 1,795,333 4,432,107

Other intangible assets include contractual customer relationships and development expenditure.

In accordance with IAS 36 we have carried out an impairment review of the gaodwill, other intangible assets and right of
use assets of each of our group companies which are considered to be separate cash generating units. This has been
done by comparing the carrying value to the value in use. The assessment has been based on the 2023 budget prepared
at the beginning of the year which includes a 5 year forecast. Key assumptions affecting the valuation include:

- Forecast EBITDA for each year, as a proxy for operating cash flow;

- Assessment of a terminal value after 5 years;

- Company specific growth rates of between 0% and 5%; and

- Cash flows discounted at the Weighted Average Cost of Capital of the group after applying a single company premium
dependent on the characteristics of each company of between 5% and 20%.

No impairment is indicated where the value in use is higher than the carrying value.

15 Investments

Group
Other
investments
£
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2022 -
Acquired through business combinations 10,000
At 31 December 2022 10,000
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022 10,000
At 31 December 2021 -

37



Cathay Investments 2 Limited

DocuSign Envelope ID: F676B10F-AF13-4F27-A40F-43A6E2D7D787

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

15 Investments (continued)
Company

Details of the company subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Perking Group Services Limited*

Humatt Limited*
Buttons Bear and Friends Limited
Williams of Swansea Limited*

Amethyst Group Limited*

Cathay Investments 2 Properties
Limited*
The Original Poster Company Limited*

PNC Globai Logistics Limited*
Amethyst Global Freight Limited

Warehouse One Distribution Limited™

Mercian Logistics Limited

CAJ Mercian Holdings Limited*
C5% Digitals Limited*

Principal activity

Import and
distribution of tays,
stationery and
seasonal products,
warehousing and
logistics

Dormant

Darmant

Import and
distribution of toys,
stationery and
seasonal products

Pravision of
warehousing and
logistics services

Non-trading

Producer and
distributor of greeting
cards

Holding company
Freight forwarding

Warehousing, logistics

and transportation
services

Provision of courier
and pallet transport
services

Holding company

Information
technology
consultancy services

Country of
incorporation
and principal

Proportion of ownership

place of business interest and voting rights held

England and Wales

Engiand and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales
England and Wales
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2022
100%

100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%

160%

100%
100%

2021
100%

100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%

100%
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15 Investments (continued)

* indicates direct investment of the company

In line with the exemption allowed under section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 certain of the subsidiary companies of
Cathay Investments 2 Limited have been made exempt from requirements to have an audit under section 475 of the
Companies Act 2006. In order to meet this exemption Cathay Investments 2 Limited has pledged to guarantee all
outstanding iabilities to which the relevant subsidiaries are subject to at the end of the financial year to which the
guarantee relates until they are satisfied in full and that this guarantee is enforceable against the parent undertaking by
any person to which the subsidiaries are liable in respect of those liabilities.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 the following subsidiaries were entitled to exemption from audit under section
479A of the Companies Act 2006 relating to subsidiary companies:

Cathay Investments 2 Properlies Limiled (Registration number: 09622202)

Williams of Swansea Limited (Registration number: 03579111)

The Original Poster Company {Registration number: 02580821)

PNC Global Logistics Limited (Registration number: 07677779)

Amethyst Global Freight Limited (Registration number: 04688688)

C5 Digitals Limited (Registration number: 12391026)

CAJ Mercian Holdings Limited {Registration number: 10538685}

Mercian Logistics Limited (Registration number: 03574880}

Summary of the company's investments

2022 2021
£ £

Investments in subsidiaries 14,432,538 12,766,699
Subsidiaries
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2021 12,766,699
At 31 December 2021 12,766,699
At 1 January 2022 12,766,699
Additions 1,665,839
At 31 December 2022 14,432,538
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022 14,432,538
At 31 December 2021 12,766,699
At 1 Janyary 2021 12,766,699
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16 Acquisition of subsidiaries

The group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of CAJ Mercian Holdings Limited group of companies, obtaining
control. The principal activity of the Mercian group of companies is the provision of courier services.

The amounts recognised in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and habilities assumed are set out In the table

below:

2022

£

Assets and liabiliies acquired
Identifiable intangible fixed assets - customer contracts 1,266,000
Investments 1¢,000
Property, plant and equipment 209,271
Property, plant and equipment - right of use assets 1,168,398
Trade and other receivables 1,696,550
Cash and cash equivalents 57,479
Trade and other payables (1,341,808)
Saocial security and other taxes (144,648)
Corporation tax liabifity (43,079)
Bank borrowings (41,396)
Lease liability £1,118,404)
Deferred tax (103,713)
Deferred tax recognised on identifiable intangible assets (316,500)
Total identifiable assets 1,298,150
Goodwill 367,689
Total consideration 1,665,839
Satisfied by:
Cash 1,665,839
Total consideration transferred 1,665,839
Cash flow analysis:
Cash consideration 1,665,839
Less; cash and cash equivalent balances acquired {57,479)
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition 1,608,360

Acquisttion-related costs amount 1o £40,832 in 2022,

CAJ Mercian Holdings Limited and its subsidiary contributed £5,730,521 revenue and a loss of £716,306 to the group's
profit for the pericd between the date of acquisition and the balance sheet date.
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17 Leases

Lease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: Group
2022 2021
£ £
Current .| 3,898,033 - 4,449,384
Non-current 25,574 987 27,637,450
29,473,020 32,086,834
Lease liabilities of £29,473,020 (2021 - £32,086,834) are secured over the leased assets. ’
Leasing activities by type of right-of-use asset recognised on balance sheet:
Group
No. of leases
No. of right- No. of with variable No. of leases
of-use Range of Average leases with payments with
assets remaining remaining extension linked to an  termination
Right-of-use asset  leased lease term lease term options index options
Land and buildings 7 1-12vyears 6 years 7 - 7
Furniture, fittings and
equipment 27 1-3 years 3 years 27 - 27
Motor vehicles 9 1 vyear 1 year 9 - S
Future minimum lease payments at 31 December 2022 were as follows:
Group
Within 1-2 2-3 3-4 4-5 After Total
1 year years years years years 5 years
£ £ £ £ £ £
31 December 2022
Lease payments 4,854,617 4,383,156 4,053,730 3,922,271 3,546,285 13,545,275 34,305,334
Finance charges {956,584) (832,45%9) (691,626) (585,438) (475,603) {1,250,604) (4,832,314}
Net present values 3,898,033 3,550,697 3,362,104 _ 3,336,833 3,070,682 12,254,671 29,473,020
Future minimum lease payments at 31 December 2021 were as follows:
Within 1-2 2-3 3-4 4-5 After Total
1 year years years years years 5 years
£ £ £ £ £
31 December 2021
Lease payments 5,420,729 4,379,786 3,919,964 3,674,398 3,617,340 16,221,432 37,233,649
Finance charges (971,345) {825,408) {717,026) (618,268) {527,645) _(1,483,123) (5,146,815)
Net present values 4,449,384 3,550,378 3,202,938 _ 3,056,130 3,089,695 14,738,309 32,086,834

The group and company recognised £nil (2021 - £nil) expense relating to payments for short-term leases, leases of low value assets and

variable lease payments.

At the year end the group was not committed to any short-term leases.
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17 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets

Group
Furniture,
Land and . . Motor
buildings Tungs and vehicles Total
equipment
3 £ £ £
Gross carrying amount
Balance at 1 January 2022 35,741,981 4,513,409 215,183 40,470,573
Additions - 1,044,003 47,250 1,091,253
Acquired through business combinations 742,602 425,796 - 1,168,398
Disposals - (1,038,028 {79,849) (1,117.877)
Balance at 31 December 2022 36,484,583 4,945,180 187,584 41,612,347
Depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2022 9,728,275 2,265,526 116,333 12,110,134
Depreciation 3,497,607 973,310 87,997 4,558,914
Disposais - {1,038,028) (79,849) (1,117,877}
Balance at 31 December 2022 13,225,882 2,200,808 124,481 15,551,171
Carrying amount 31 December 2022 23,258,701 2,744,372 58,103 26,061,176
Carrying amount 31 December 2021 26,013,706 2,247,883 98,850 28,360,439
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18 Inventories

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
£ £ £ £
Finished goods and goods for resale 957,954 919,016 - -

The cost of group inventories recognised as an expense in the year amounted to £2,336,646 (2021 - £2,372,225). This is
included within cost of sales.

The amount of write-down of group inventories recognised as an expense in the year is £nil (2021 - £nil). This is included
in cost of sales,

19 Trade and other receivabies

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
£ £ £ £
Trade receivables 7,586,870 5,963,027 - -
Receivables from related parties 133,412 483,414 1,251,639 719,720
Qther prepayments 848,352 1,409,573 - -
Social security and other taxes 26,002 - - -
Other receivables 383,683 275,459 3,081 1,559
8,578,319 8,131,473 1,254,720 721,279

The amortised cost of those trade and other receivables classified as financial instrument loans and receivables are
disclosed in the financial instruments note.

The group's exposure to credit and market risks, including impairments and allowances for credit losses, relating to trade
and other receivables is disclosed in the financial risk management and impairment note.

20 Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

£ £ £ £

Cash at bank 3,552,745 5,150,815 81,325 251,093
21 Share capital

2022 2021

No. £ No. £

Ordinary shares of £1 each 12,000 12,000 12,600 12,000

Ordinary shares of £3 each 667 2,001 934 2,802

12,667 14,001 12,934 14,802

Rights, preferences and restrictions
Each ordinary share of £1 is entitled to one vote. Each ordinary share of £3 is entitled to three votes.

On 13 July 2022, the company repurchased 267 B Ordinary shares. A total consideration of £372,411 was paid on the

repurchase of the shares. The repurchased shares were cancelled. The share capital of the company was reduced by
£801 comprising the 267 B Ordinary shares of £3 each.
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22 Reserves
Group

Share capital
Represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Capital redemption reserve
Represents the amount of shares the group bought back,

Retained earnings
Includes all current and prior period retainad profits and losses,

Company

Share capital
Represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Capital redemption reserve
Represents the amount of shares the company bought back.

Retained earnings
Includes all current and prior period retained profits and losses.

23 Loans and barrowings

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
£ E £ £
Non-current loans and borrowings
Bank borrowings 5,468,493 5,445,126 5,445,126 5,445,126
Redeemable preference shares 1,686,885 936,885 1,686,885 936,885
7,155,378 6,382,011 7,132,011 6,382,011
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
£ £ £ £
Current loans and borrowings
Bank borrowings 10,800 - - -
QOther borrowings 944,041 944,041 944,041 944,041
954,841 944,041 944,041 944,041
Group

Bank borrowings

On 18 December 202(¢ the group, together with its related company Cathay Investments Limited, refinanced their bank
barrowings with HSBC Bank PLC. All the loans are denominated in sterling with a nominal interest rate of 3.0 - 4.0%
above the SONIA Rate, and with the final instaiment due by 28 February 2025. The carrying amount of these ioans af, the
year end is £5,445,126 (2021: £5,445,126).

On the acquisition of CAJ Mercian Holdings Limited group of companies, the group acquired a further bank loan. The loan
is provided by Lloyds Bank and is denominated in sterling with a nominal interest rate of 2.5%, and with the final
instalment due by 5 May 2026. The carrying amount at the year end is £34,167 (2021: £Nil}.

Redeemable preference shares

The holder of the redeemable preference shares has the right to redeem such shares at par. The holders of the
redeemable preference shares have confirmed their intentions to hold the shares for mare than one year. Accordingly,
these redeemable preference shares are presented as a liability within non-current loans and borrowings in the statement
of financial position.
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23 Loans and borrowings (continued)

The redeemable preference shares carry a 0% caupon rate.

Movement in (iability:

2022 2021
£ £
Proceeds from issue of redeemable preference shares 750,000 -

The loans and borrowings classified as financial instruments are disciosed in the financial instruments note.

The group's exposure to market and liquidity risk, including maturity analysis, in respect of loans and borrowings is
disclosed in the financial risk management and impairment note.

24 Pension and other schemes
Defined contribution pension scheme

The group gperates a defined contribution pension scheme. The pension cost charged for the year from continuing
operations represents contributions payable by the group to the scheme and amounted to £177,165 (2021 - £135,496),

Contributions totalling £25,807 (2021 - £33,996) were payabie to the scheme at the end of the year and are included in
creditors.

25 Other provisions

Group
Dilapidations

Rates provision provision Total
£ £ £
At 1 January 2022 2,585,167 674,000 3,563,167
Additional provisions 609,996 141,072 751,068
Provisions used - - -
At 31 December 2022 3,199,163 1,115,072 4,314,235
Non-currant liabilities - 1,115,072 1,115,072

Provisions with amounts of £3,199,163 (2021 - £2,589,167) expected to fall due within one year and £1,115,072 (2021 -
£974,000) expected to fall due after more than one year.
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26 Trade and other payables

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
£ £ £ £
Trade payables 2,026,010 1,989,205 218 5,645
Accrued expenses 427,592 1,076,506 21,000 21,000
Amounts due 10 related parties 318,085 91,553 3,033,775 205,242
Saocial security and other taxes 1,024,452 1,071,857 - 2,087
Cther payables 2,311,682 2,186,392 10 10
6,107,831 6,416,113 3,055,003 233,984

Included within the other payables balance is an amount of £2,137,409 (2021 - £2,176,987) in respect of the group's

invoice discounting facility, This amount is secured by fixed and floating charges over the group's assets.

The amortised cost of the trade and other payables classified as financial instruments are disclosed in the financial

instruments note.

The group's exposure to market and liquidity risks, including maturity analysis, related to trade and other payables is
disclased in the financial risk management and impairment note.

27 Contingent liabilities

Company

The company has given cross guarantees to the groups bankers in respect of borrowings by certain group companies. The
amount guaranteed is £18,748,378 (2021 - £21,962,233).

28 Finandial instruments

Categories of financial instruments
The group and the company held the following financial assets:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
£ £ £ E
Trade and other receivables 8,129,967 6,721,900 1,254,720 721,279
Cash and cash equivaients 3,552,745 5,150,815 81,325 251,093
11,682,712 11,872,715 1,336,045 972,372
The group and the company held the following financial liabilities:
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
£ £ £ £
Trade and other payables 6,107,831 6,416,113 3,055,003 233,984
Bank borrowings 5,479,293 5,445,126 5,445,126 5,445,126
Lease liabilities 29,473,020 32,086,834 - -
QOther barrowings 944,041 944,041 944,041 944,041
Redeemable preference shares 1,686,885 936,885 1,686,885 936,885
43,691,070 45,828,993 11,131,055 7,560,036
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29 Financial risk management and impairment of financial assets

The group's and the company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risks, credit risk, liquidity risk,
cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk. The group's and the company's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of the marketplace and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
group'’s and the company's financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the operating divisions under policies approved by the Board of Directors.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The group’s and company’s interest rate risk arises from long term borrowings. Borrowings at variable rate expose the
group and company to cash flow interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on exposure to interest rates for the fixed term borrowings of
the group and company subject to interest charges at the statement of financial position date. For floating rate liabilities
the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the liability outstanding at the statement of financial position date was
outstanding for the whole year. The group’s and company's assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates is 2.5% increase or decrease.

Based on bank borrowings at 31 December 2022 if interest rates were 2.5% higher (or lower) and all other variables
were held constant, the group’s net profit would decrease (or increase) by £136,982.

Credit risk and impairment

The group's and the company's exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying value of financial assets recognised at the
year end. The maximum exposure to credit risk in refation to trade receivables is equivalent to the year end balance. The
group continuously monitors the creditworthiness of customers and other counterparties. The group's and the company’s
policy is to deal only with creditworthy counterparties. The group benefits from credit insurance on some of its trade
receivables.

The group and the company is nat exposed to any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any
company of counterparties having similar characteristics. The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is considered
negligible since the counterparties are reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings.

Impairment losses on financial assets recognised in profit or loss were as follows:

2022 2021
£ £
Impairment loss on trade receivables (42,127) (11,660}

Past due and impaired financial assets

The directors consider that all the above financial assets that are not impaired for each of the reporting dates under
review are of good quality credit, based on financial information and past trading history, including those that are past
due.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity needs are monitored carefully on a day-to-day basis. Longer term liquidity needs are assessed through monthly,
quarterly, and annual cash flow forecasts.
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Maturity analysis

Within 1 year After 1 year Total
2022 £ £ £
Non-interest bearing borrowings 944,041 - 944,041
Bank borrowings 10,800 5,468,493 5,479,293
Redeemable preference shares - 1,686,885 1,686,885
Lease liabilities 3,898,033 25,574,987 29,473,020
4,852,874 32,730,365 37,583,235
Within 1 year After 1 year Total
2021 E £ E
Non-interest bearing borrowings 944,041 - 944,041
Bank borrowings - 5,445,126 5,445,126
Redeemable preference shares - 936,885 936,885
Lease iiabilities 4,449,384 27,637,450 32,086,834
5,393,425 34,019,461 39,412,886

Capital risk management

Capital components
Total capital is calculated as equity, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position, plus debt.

Externally imposed capital requirements
The group has no externally imposed capital requirements.

Capital management

The group’s and company's policy is to maintain a strong capital base with a view to underpinning shareholder and
creditor confidence and sustaining the future development of the business. Capital consists of ordinary shares, other
capital reserves, retained earnings, preference shares and other debt. The group monitors performance at both a
corporate and individual asset level and sets internal guidelines for interest cover and gearing. The group manages the
capital structure and makes changes to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the

underlying assets.

29 Financial risk management and impairment of financial assets (¢continued)

The amounts managed as capital by the group and the company for the reporting periods under review are summarised

as follows:
Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
£ £ £ £
Share capital 14,001 14,802 14,001 14,802
Retained earnings (497,070) 491,714 4,622,726 6,164,233
Redeemable preference shares 1,686,885 936,885 1,686,885 936,885
Bank borrowings 5,479,293 5,445,126 5,445,126 5,445,126
6,683,109 6,888,527 11,768,738 12,561,046
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30 Related party transactions

Key management personnel
B Chaing, director

K Johnsgn, director

N Nirholas, directar

M Chaing, director

S Chaing, director

During the financial year, on 13 July 2022, G Thwaites resigned as a director and the company repurchased the shares of
the director as disclosed in note 21.

Summary of transactions with key management

During the year, B Chaing continued to provide a loan to the company. At the year end the amount due to B Chaing was
£944,041 (2021 - £944,041). The loan from B Chaing is interest free and repayable on demand.

Summary of transactions with parent company

During the year, Chaing Equities Limited provided a loan to the company. During the year, Chaing Equities Limited
recharged insurance costs to Cathay Investments 2 Limited totalling £52,797 (2021 - £52,470). Chaing Equities Limited
charged rent to Cathay Investments 2 Limited group companies totalling £17,925 (2021: £7,469), Cathay Investments 2
Limited charged accounts and audit fees to Chaing Equities Limited totalling £nil (2021: £18,025), The amount due to
Chaing Equities Limited at the year end is £84,162 (2021 - £84,162).

Summary of transactions with entities with joint control or significant interest

Cathay Investments Limited and its subsidiary companies, related due to cormmon controf

During the year, Cathay Investments Limited and subsidiary companies recharged costs of £86,577 (2021 - £136,080} to
the group. During the year the group paid management expenses of £945,000 (2021 - £900,000) to Cathay Investrments
Limited and its subsidiary companies.

During the year, the group made sales of £1,008,545 (2021 - £1,232,101) to Cathay Investments Limited and its
subsidiary companies,

During the year, the group received a loan from Cathay Investments Limited. The group advanced an amount of
£505,219 (2021 - £200,000) to Cathay Investments Limited during the year. Cathay Investments Limited made loan
repayrments of £503,279 (2021 - £1,281,556) during the year.

The group has given cross guarantees in respect of borrowings by Cathay Investments Limited and certain of its
subsidiaries. The total amount of contingencies not included in the balance sheet is £16,610,969 (2021 - £19,785,245).

At the year end the net amount due from Cathay Investments Limited and its subsidiary companies is £7,543 (2021 - due
from £476,710).

Cathay Investments 3 Limited and its subsidiary companies, related due to common contro/

During the year, Cathay Investments 3 Limited and subsidiary companies recharged costs of £863,465 (2021 - £5,687) to
the group.

During the year, the group made sales of £4,871 (2021 - £nil) to Cathay Investments 3 Limited and its subsidiary
companies,

During the year, the group advanced an amount of £3,000 (2021 - £5,000) to Cathay Investments 3 Limited and its
subsidiaries.

At the year end the net amount due to Cathay Investments 3 Limited and its subsidiary companies is £92,977 (2021 -
£687).
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30 Related party transactions {continued)

Income and receivables from related parties

Entities with
joint control
Parent or significant
company influence
2022 £ £
Receipt of services - 1,013,016
Recharged expenses - -
Settlement of liabilities - (503,279)
Provision of loan - 505,219
- 1,014,956
Arnounts receivable from related party - 938,412
Entities with
joint control
Parent or significant
company influence
2021 £ £
Receipt of services - 1,232,101
Recharged expenses 18,025 -
Settlement of liabilities - (1,281,596}
Pravision of loan - 200,000
18,025 150,505
Amounts receivable from related party - 482,214
Expenditure with and payables to related parties
Entities with
joint control
Parent or significant
company influence
2022 E £
Rendering of services 17,925 1,808,435
Recharged expenses 52,797 86,577
70,722 1,895,012
Amounts payable to related party 84,162 198,932
Entities with
joint control
Parent or significant
company influence
2021 £ £
Rendering of services 7,469 900,000
Recharged expenses 54,470 136,080
61,939 1,036,080
Amounts payable to related party 84,162 6,191
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Loans from related parties
Key
management
2022 £
At start of period 944,041

At end of period 944,041

Key

management

2021 E
At start of period 944,041

At end of period 9445041

31 Post balance sheet events

On 29 June 2023 the company declared a dividend of £2,779,440 in respect of the A Ordinary shares and £220,506 in
respect of the B Ordinary shares. There were no conditions or restrictions associated with the dividend.

32 Controlling party

The company's immediate parent company is Chaing Equities Limited, incorporated in England and Wales.

The ultimate controlling party is B Chaing and members of his close family, who control, directly or indirectly, 100% of
the share capital in Chaing Equities Limited.

The most senior entity producing publicly available consclidated financial statements is Chaing Equities Limited. These
financial statements are available upon request from 43 Friends Road, Croydon, United Kingdem, CRO 1ED.
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